




























APPROVED 02/27/2013 

Zoning Board of Appeals 1 Jan. 23, 2013 
 

 
VILLAGE OF DOWNERS GROVE 

ZONING BOARD OF APPEALS 
JANUARY 23, 2013 MINUTES 

 
 
Call to Order 
Chairman White called the meeting to order at 7:35 PM.  
 
Roll Call 
Present: Ms. Earl, Mr. McCann, Ms. Souter, Ch. White 
Absent:  Mr. Domijan, Mr. Enochs, Ms. Majauskas 
A quorum was established.  
 
Staff:  Stan Popovich, Jeff O’Brien 
Also Present: Ann & Michael Montefinese, Downers Grove  
 
Minutes of November 28, 2012 meeting 
 
Ms. Earl moved to approve the minutes of the November 2012 meeting as presented.   Mr. 
McCann seconded the Motion. 
AYES: Ms. Earl, Mr. McCann, Ms. Souter, Ch. White 
NAYS: None 
The Motion passed.  
 
Meeting Procedures 
 
Chairman White explained the function of the Zoning Board of Appeals, and reviewed the 
procedures to be followed during the public hearing, verifying with Staff that all proper notices 
have been published with regard to Case ZBA-11-12. He called upon anyone intending to speak 
before the Board on the Agenda item to rise and be sworn in, as the public information portion of 
the meeting is an evidentiary hearing.   Chairman White explained that members of the Zoning 
Board of Appeals all have had the opportunity to review the documents for the petition prior to 
the meeting. In order for a requested variation to be approved there must be a majority of four 
votes in favor of approval.  Chairman White added that the Zoning Board of Appeals has 
authority to grant petitions without further recommendations being made to the Village Council.  
 

••••••••••••••••••••••• 
 
ZBA-11-12   A petition seeking a front yard setback variation for an accessory structure.  

The property is zoned R-4, Single-Family Residential.  The property is 
located at the southwest corner of the intersection of 7th Street and Florence 
avenue, commonly known as 5400 Florence Avenue, Downers Grove, IL  
(PIN 09-09-306-020); Ann and Michel Montefinese, Petitioners and Owners.  

 
Petitioner’s Presentation 
 



APPROVED 02/27/2013 

Zoning Board of Appeals 2 Jan. 23, 2013 
 

Mr. and Mrs. Michael (Ann) Montefinese presented their petition.  Mrs. Montefinese said they 
decided to put up a carport at the end of the summer of 2011.  In the fall of 2011 a Code 
Enforcement Officer from the Village came by to say that they were building without a permit 
and had to cease construction immediately.    They waited to hear from the Village and expected 
to hear that they would have to pay a fine. After several months they had heard nothing, so they 
moved forward and put the carport up.  They now realize they should have come to request a 
variance before because the carport was close to the sidewalk when they started building it.  
Because of the existing landscaping, it would cost close to $10,000 to move the plants and trees 
to build a conforming carport.  So they completed their construction.  Mrs. Montefinese noted 
that neighbors have come by and remarked about how good the property and carport looked.  
Shortly thereafter they received a letter from the Village telling them that they should take the 
carport down. 
 
Mr. McCann said he did not see dimensions of the roof in their plan.  Mr. Montefinese said it 
was 15 feet x 22 feet.  He also said there is about five feet from the edge of the carport to the 
south curb of the driveway.  Mrs. Montefinese described a photo that was shown on the 
overhead.  She added that there is a drop off at the end of the driveway of about 30 inches.  Mr. 
Montefinese described what would have to be done to bring the carport into compliance, and it 
would require removal of plant materials and trees to extend the driveway.  Mrs. Montefinese 
said that they consider that portion of the yard as their back yard. 
 
Ms. Earl said she walked the property and thought it was very well done.  She is struggling with 
why they moved forward even though they knew they needed a permit after the Code 
Enforcement Officer came to talk with them.  Mr. Montefinese said he spoke with the officer and 
explained that he wanted to put a roof on the carport, and the officer said he would get back to 
Mr. Montefinese.  Mr. Montefinese said after hearing nothing, he decided to finish the project 
and it was a bad judgment call on his part.   Mrs. Montefinese said they didn’t want to have to do 
all the work and spend all the money that would be required.  They understand if they are denied 
a variation by the Board that they will have to move forward and have the carport installed 
properly. 
 
Mr. McCann asked if there was anything preventing them from moving the carport back eight 
feet to the end of the driveway.  It would shorten the carport from 16 feet to 14 feet.  Mrs. 
Montefinese replied that the quotes they received said they would have to include a retaining 
wall.  Mr. McCann said that his recommendation would be simply to move the carport back 
sufficiently to meet the requirements.  Mr. Montefinese said he would have to open up the deck 
if they did that.  If they have to have the carport rebuilt they would have to make the carport 
smaller. 
 
Ms. Souter asked how much time passed between the time that the Code Enforcement Officer 
came by and they were finally notified of the decision by the Village.  Mr. Montefinese said it 
was about one year.  Mrs. Montefinese said they had expected to get a reply sooner with a fine in 
the mail.  They suspended construction for a while, then moved forward.  
 
Staff’s Report 
 



APPROVED 02/27/2013 

Zoning Board of Appeals 3 Jan. 23, 2013 
 

Mr. Stan Popovich, Planner with the Village, explained the petition before the Board.  He said 
that the carport is located 15 feet from the front property line where 25 feet is required.  The 
property is a corner lot with two front yards, which is why the 25 feet front setback is required.   
 
After receiving a complaint about construction occurring without a permit, a Village Code 
Enforcement Officer visited the site and met the petitioner.  Mr. Popovich explained that the 
Code Enforcement Officer informed the petitioners that this type of construction requires a 
permit and that all work had to cease until a permit was approved by the Village.  In this 
situation Mr. & Mrs. Montefinese moved forward with the construction and completed the 
carport several months later.   
 
Mr. Popovich indicated the petitioner was ticketed in the fall of 2012 and informed that drawings 
of the carport were required.  The petitioner then submitted building plans for staff review.  He 
showed photographs of the current condition of the property.  Instead of the 25 feet required 
setback, the carport is setback 15 feet.   He also showed how changes would have to be made in 
order to place the structure in compliance.   
 
Mr. Popovich further enumerated the reasons why staff finds no physical hardships or unique 
circumstances associated with the property and recommends denial of the request for a variance:   
 

1)  The petitioner is seeking relief from a self-created hardship that was brought about by 
constructing the carport without a permit after being informed that a permit was 
required; 

2)  The petitioner has the ability to construct a carport in the rear yard and meet all 
setback requirements; and 

3)  There is no physical hardship or practical difficulty associated with the property that 
warrants granting the request.   

 
Staff sees no unique circumstances associated with the petition, as noted in the report dated 
January 23, 2013.  The carport can be moved further back to the south.  There is no physical 
hardship to the land.   
 
With regard to the nine standards for approval, saff believes that eight of the standards have not 
been met, as noted on pages three and four of staff’s report dated January 23, 2013.  When the 
petitioner was initially told to stop construction, construction was at a phase where, if the 
petitioner had sought a permit, they could have completed the project to meet the code 
requirements.   
 
Staff recommends denial of the requested variation; however, staff requested that if the Board 
decides to grant the variation that it would be subject to the conditions listed within the staff 
report.   
 
Mr. McCann asked for the definition of an accessory structure, and Mr. Popovich responded that 
it is any structure that is not a principal structure, such as a deck, garage, shed, carport, etc.  
Accessory structures are an ancillary use secondary to the primary use of the property.  Most any 
construction requires a setback of some type, including anything that has a permanent foundation 
or slab associated with it. 
 



APPROVED 02/27/2013 

Zoning Board of Appeals 4 Jan. 23, 2013 
 

Mr. Jeff O’Brien said that the Zoning Ordinance defines structure as anything with a permanent 
anchoring to the ground.  An accessory subject is defined as subordinate to a primary structure 
that contributes to the comfort and convenience of the principal structure. 
 
Ms. Earl asked if the carport meets the current building code standards.  Mr. Popovich said he 
spoke with the Chief Building Inspector this morning about this project.  The foundation is 6 
inches less than is generally required.  The structural engineer is however willing to document 
that the foundation installed is appropriate for this structure.   In addition, there is some cross-
bracing may be needed on some of the posts to provide stability. 
 
There being no further questions from the Board, Chairman White inquired if the petitioner’s had 
any further comments.  The petitioners offered no further comments.   
 
There being no further comments or questions, Chairman White closed the opportunity for 
further public comment. 
 
Board’s Deliberation 
 
Chairman White called for comments from the Board.  
 
Chairman White said that staff notified the petitioner that a permit was necessary, and the 
petitioner should not receive any sympathy for moving forward with its construction.  However, 
this fact should not alter the Board’s assessment on whether the Board should grant the variation.   
He will be looking at the merits of the petition as if this was a request prior to construction.  
Chairman White does see a hardship with having to add concrete but does not see a hardship on 
why they can’t go back to the edge of the existing concrete.  He noted he’s inclined to support a 
variation of five feet.  This would still require them to rebuild the carport.  He noted the existing 
house is 10 feet from 2nd Street and is non-conforming.   
 
Ms. Earl said she walked the property and commented on how the lot was well-landscaped.  She 
understands why they wanted to minimize this, though they didn’t set it back as far as they 
could.  She is not willing to go ten feet or five feet.  It if has to be moved it should be done the 
way it should have been from the beginning.  She thinks that the Code Enforcement Officer told 
them about the permit situation, yet they moved forward with the construction anyway.  The 
Board does not look favorably about asking for forgiveness after the fact.  She would have not 
given the variation whether or not they violated the code by not getting a permit. 
 
Mr. McCann said his main concern is that the setback applies to every single house in the 
Village.  He doesn’t see how they can draw a line between what the petitioner did or what 
anyone else might want to do.  This Board is here to create exceptions to the rule in unique 
situations.  This is not a unique situation.  He thinks the work that was done on the site was done 
well.  He thinks it looks great; however, the ordinance specifies what they should have done for a 
variation.   
 
Ms. Souter said she appreciated Chairman White’s opening remarks in terms of the fact that it 
will have to be a new build.  However, looking at the code and the fact that they would have to 
move it back, she would still have to go with the code requirements.  Given those parameters, 
she would have to deny the request.   



APPROVED 02/27/2013 

Zoning Board of Appeals 5 Jan. 23, 2013 
 

 
Mr. McCann commented further that he wanted to have work done on his house, but his house is 
23.5 feet instead of 25 feet and he could not do what he wanted to do because of the 
requirements.  
 
Mr. McCann made a motion to deny the variation associated with case #ZBA 11-12 as 
requested.   
 
Ms. Souter seconded the motion.   
AYES: Mr. McCann, Ms. Souter, Ms. Earl 
NAYS: Ch. White 
The Motion to deny passed with a vote of 3-1, and the Petitioner’s request for a variation is 
denied. 
 

•••••••••••••••••••••••••••• 
 

Mr. O’Brien said there are no items for the February meeting at this time.  
 
Upon voice vote, Chairman White adjourned the meeting at 8:08 PM. 
 
 
Respectfully submitted, 
 
 
Tonie Harrington 
Recording Secretary 
 
 


	Minutes_01-23-13.pdf
	Minutes_02-13-13.pdf
	Minutes_02-16-13.pdf
	ZBA.pdf



